

# THE LANDSCAPE OF NEW-GENERATION TOBACCO AND NICOTINE PRODUCTS CONSUMPTION IN KENYA

CHALLENGES FOR PUBLIC HEALTH, TAX REGULATORY FRAMEWORK, AND WAY FORWARD



CYPRIAN M. MOSTERT1<sup>2</sup>, ANDREW ABALLA<sup>2</sup>, LUKOYE ATWOLI<sup>2</sup>, ROSELYTER MONCHARI RIANG'A<sup>1</sup>, LINDA KHAKALI<sup>2</sup>, WILLIE NJOROGE<sup>2</sup>, JASMIT SHAH<sup>2</sup>, JOHN THOMI<sup>3</sup>, IRENE OTIENO<sup>3</sup>, FELIX AGOI<sup>1</sup>, KARAMBU MUTHAURA<sup>5</sup>, CATHERINE MUNYWOKI<sup>4</sup>, GITHUKA GEORGE<sup>6</sup>, ZUL MERALI<sup>2</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Department of Population Health, Aga Khan University, Nairobi, Kenya
- <sup>2</sup> Brain and Mind Institute, Aga Khan University, Nairobi, Kenya
- <sup>3</sup> National Taxpayers Association, Nairobi, Kenya
- <sup>4</sup> Health Preventions, Ministry of Health-Kilifi Sub-County, Kenya
- <sup>5</sup> Independent Health Tax Consultant, Nairobi, Kenya
- <sup>6</sup> Tobacco Control Division, Ministry of Health, Kenya

# THE LANDSCAPE OF NEW-GENERATION TOBACCO AND NICOTINE PRODUCTS CONSUMPTION IN KENYA

CHALLENGES FOR PUBLIC HEALTH, TAX Regulatory framework, and way forward

### ABSTRACT

his paper presents the Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems and Electronic Non-Nicotine Delivery Systems (ENDS/ENNDS) consumption patterns in Kenya. The paper also highlights public health challenges associated with the consumption of these products and policy gaps in controlling consumption. Lastly, the paper proposes a way forward to avert the consumption of ENDS/ENNDS . Data was obtained from the 2022 Statista Consumer Insights Survey (n=2,837). In addition, we conducted semi-structured interviews with key informants working in the tobacco control policy (TCP) space (n=20), users of ENDS/ ENNDS (n=224), community leaders (n=10), academia (n=10), parents of users (n=10), ENDS/ENNDS and tobacco industry representatives (n=20), policymakers from the Ministry of Health (MoH) and Law enforcement (n=20) to validate estimated prevalence levels and generate knowledge for policy reforms. The verified estimates show that the prevalence of ENDS/ENNDS was 5.6 (95% CI= 5.4% to 5.9%). From the findings, it was noted that ENDS/ ENNDS consumption was the highest among those living in resourced areas versus those living in less-resourced areas. Males consume more ENDS/ENNDS than females. Co-use of illicit cigarettes, Cannabis and ENDS/ENNDS is more common in less-resourced regions than resourced regions. ENDS/ENNDS are traded illicitly in Kenya and there is inconclusive evidence linking ENDS/ENNDS consumption to successful cigarette cessation. Current tax regulatory frameworks are ineffective in averting ENDS/ENNDS consumption. Increased nicotine addictions and hypertension are the most reported side effects associated with ENDS/ENNDS consumption. There is a need to reform Kenya's Tobacco Control Act to address the criminality and rising ENDS/ENNDS consumption.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUMMARY BOX		6
INTRODUCTION		7
Policy framework for ENDS/ENNDS in	n Kenya	8
METHODS		10
Data sources		10
Measures		10
RESULTS		12
DISCUSSION		15
Limitations of the study		16
Policy implications		16
CONCLUSION		17
REFERENCES		18
APPENDIX		21

### **SUMMARY BOX**

### What is already known?

- ENDS/ENNDS consumption is increasing in high-income countries. However, the consumption patterns from developing countries are scarce.
- Recent studies have suggested that the ENDS/ENNDS market may undermine tobacco control policies.
- However, other studies argue that these products are effective in promoting smoking cessation.
- We collected data on ENDS/ENNDS consumption in Kenya.

#### What are the new findings?

- ENDS/ENNDS consumption in Kenya varied widely along five characteristics: age, education, gender, race and region.
- Those from well-resourced backgrounds drive consumption.
- The current regulatory framework is ineffective in averting ENDS/ENNDS consumption.
- ENDS/ENNDS are traded illicitly, and there is inconclusive evidence that ENDS/ENNDS drives smoking cessation.

### What do the new findings imply?

- ENDS/ENNDS may deepen nicotine addiction levels in Kenya.
- Policymakers may want to prioritize culturally sensitive and gender messaging to prevent ENDS/ENNDS consumption in the vulnerable population groups.
- High taxation of ENDS/ENNDS is needed to avert consumption.



### INTRODUCTION

The new-generation tobacco and nicotine products also known as Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems and Electronic Non-Nicotine Delivery Systems (ENDS/ENNDS ) are devices that heat and aerosolize nicotine liquids or tobacco products [1]. These devices generate vapor, which the user inhales, and uptake of these products has been increasing, especially in the youth population groups, since they were launched in the global markets in 2006 [2].

Currently, the consumption of ENDS/ENNDS is increasing globally [3]. For example, the global market for ENDS/ ENNDS reached a value of US\$11.5 billion in 2018 and gained US\$26.84 billion in 2023 [4]. This increasing consumption level provides grounds for concern, especially if one considers the evidence that links ENDS/ENNDS to rising addiction levels and in young population groups [5] [6].

So far, papers that have mapped out the consumption patterns of ENDS/ENNDS and its impact on health outcomes of African countries are scarce [7]. The recent global review article only reported evidence from Ghana and Tunisia [8]—a sign of a significant lack of such analysis in various African countries, even though the continent has four million consumers of ENDS/ENNDS products[9].

One of the major reasons for the lack of ENDS/ENNDS consumption analysis and its impact on health outcomes, is the fact that the industry has promoted these products as effective for smoking cessation, a narrative well embraced by many countries [10]. This has caused confusion and limited the scrutiny of these products on African countries' public health outcomes. However, other countries have rejected the claims that ENDS/ENNDS consumption is harmless and have imposed restrictive policy measures [11] as recommended by the World Health Organization [12].

\$11.5 BILLION

the global market value for ENDS/ ENNDS in 2018



\$26.84 Billion

the global market value for ENDS/ ENNDS in 2023 In such cases—governments are often worried about minimizing the number of new users of ENDS/ENNDS who become addicted to nicotine. Most of these countries enact restrictive regulations such as higher taxes on ENDS/ENNDS to reduce consumption demand, especially among non-smokers and youth [13]. The general position is that ENDS/ ENNDS are harmful and serve to normalize smoking culture [14]. These products are a gateway to nicotine addiction, which spills over, causing harmful cigarette consumption for non-smokers and youth [15] [16].

Instead of supporting smoking cessation, ENDS/ENNDS encourage continued use of conventional cigarettes, resulting in the dual use of both products, consequently undermining smoking cessation [15] [16] [17]. So far, these consumption realities have not been established in Africa, and there is a heated debate with other authors claiming that these products are effective in assisting smokers to quit smoking [18]. Such a gap and ideological contestation calls for more assessment to be conducted in the continent to improve public health policy reforms of these products.

### Policy framework for ENDS/ ENNDS in Kenya

Kenya is among the 39 countries globally that have enacted excise taxes on ENDS/ ENNDS [19] in an attempt to reduce the consumption. In 2017, the Kenyan government also imposed a total ban on Shisha/Hookah [20] -- a move which was designed to prevent the public health harms associated with Shisha consumption [21]. In 2019, Kenya also banned the consumption of Lyft –a nicotine pouch [22]. In 2020, the Kenyan government set the excise tax on e-cigarette liquids at Ksh 70/mg (\$ 0.4 USD/mg). The government also imposed a tax of Ksh 1595/kg (\$ 10 USD/kg) [23] on nicotine pouches.

Despite these regulatory developments, no study in Kenya has analyzed the ENDS/ ENNDS consumption trends, their impacts on public health, and whether the 2017- 2020 regulatory framework controls consumption levels effectively.



This paper is designed to estimate the consumption patterns of ENDS/ENNDS in Kenya by analyzing the 2022 Statista Consumer Insights Survey. We also estimate the percentage distribution of users according to the product of choice/brand loyalty. We also utilized semi-structured interviews of key informants to validate estimated consumption patterns and generate knowledge for policy reforms. This data enabled us to capture the differences in ENDS/ENNDS consumption in both resourced and under-resourced regions. Such knowledge is rare in Kenya, especially after the bans imposed by the government in 2017 and 2019, which might have prompted some users to source illicit products. In this paper, we sought to answer the following questions:

- i. Are there any differences in ENDS/ENNDS consumption between resourced and less-resourced regions?
- ii. Which population groups use ENDS/ ENNDS the most?
- iii. Is there any evidence of illicit ENDS/ ENNDS consumption?
- iv. Are users of ENDS/ENNDS having high appetite for quitting smoking?
- v. What practical steps can be adopted to reform the policy framework of ENDS/ ENNDS to avert consumption effectively?

Answering these interrelated questions is critical in promoting the understanding of how ENDS/ ENNDS consumption differs across various population groups and potentially undermines tobacco control policies. The study's findings also inform priority and, perhaps, more targeted actions for the most vulnerable population group and hence contribute to efforts to address addictionrelated inequities.

### **METHODS**

#### **Data sources**

We used the 2022 Statista Consumer Insights Survey for our study, This online survey systematically monitors ENDS/ENNDS consumption in Kenya [24]. The datasets include adults who consume various ENDS/ ENNDS products. Sampling can be stratified according to the region's economic status. The survey was designed to generate comparable ENDS/ENNDS consumption levels across Kenyan urban cities and small, under-resourced towns.

#### Measures

he surveys were completed by consenting participants aged 18 years and older who were daily or non-daily users of ENDS/ENNDS . A total of 2,837 completed the survey capturing individual characteristics (age, gender, education level, and self-identified race group). Based on regional GDP per capita higher than 4,500 USD, we categorized those individuals living in Nairobi County, Kiambu County, Nakuru County, and Mombasa County as residents of resourced regions. At the same time, we considered those in Kisumu County, Nyeri County, Kakamega County, Meru County, and other disadvantaged counties as users living in the 'less-resourced' region. This distinction was made because area-level socioeconomic status could encourage ENDS/ENNDS consumption. For example, household inequality has been declining in Kenya since 2015 regardless of the education level of the household head [25]. This factor is likely to influence the consumption patterns of ENDS/ENNDS.

During the 2022 Statista Consumer Insights Survey data collection, information on ENDS/ENNDS consumption was established by asking the participants who had indicated they consume these products --the following question: 'Overall, which ENDS/ENNDS do you consume? The response options were (1) None, (2) ENDS,(3) ENNDS (4)Both ENDS and ENNDS. All respondents who did not indicate consuming any ENDS/ENNDS were coded as 0, and those who consumed ENDS/ENNDS , irrespective of the proportion or type, were coded as 1. We used

2,837

completed the

survey

this binary variable to estimate the overall prevalence of ENDS/ENNDS consumption in Kenya, focusing on resource- and lessresourced settings. Details of the questionnaire are provided in the Appendix section.

In line with a recent publication on tobacco control policies in Africa [26], we also conducted semi-structured interviews with key officials (n=20) working in tobacco control policy (TCP) and possessing high levels of access to exclusive information on tobacco and substance abuse in Kenya. We also interviewed users of ENDS/ENNDS (n=224) in addition to the data generated by the 2022 Statista Consumer Insights Survey. We also interviewed community leaders (n=10), academia (n=10), parents of users (n=10), vaping and tobacco industry representatives (n=20), and policymakers from the Ministry of Health and Law Enforcement (n=20) to validate estimated consumption patterns and generate knowledge for policy reforms. During those interview processes, we presented the descriptive statistics of the 2022 Statista Consumer Insights Survey for optimization and validation.

We also conducted our independent online survey on ENDS/ENNDS consumption in Kenya. We carried out a cross-sectional online survey between Sept 2023 and March 2024. The participants were Kenyans who frequently visited clubs and entertainment areas weekly. The questionnaire included questions on E-cigarette, Shisha, and Nicotine pouches consumption. The survey aimed to estimate the percentage distribution of users according to the product of choice. We established the distribution breakdown by asking the participants who indicated they consume these products. The following question is: 'Overall, which of the new generation of tobacco and nicotine products do you consume the most? The response options were (1) E-cigarettes, (2) Nicotine Pouches, (3) Shisha/ Hookah (4) Refuse to Tell. Respondents who did not indicate consuming any E-cigarettes, Nicotine Pouches, and Shisha/ Hookah were coded

as 0, and those who consumed E-cigarettes, Nicotine Pouches, and Shisha/ Hookah were coded as 1. We used this variable to estimate the percentage distribution of users according to the product line, focusing on resourceand less-resourced settings. Details of the questionnaire are provided in the Appendix section.

We also use datasets from the key informants to establish the policy reforms to support consumption declines. Qualitative data was transcribed verbatim and thematically analyzed, as highlighted in the attached supplementary file.

We then compared the mean differences in ENDS/ENNDS consumption patterns in the resourced and less-resourced regions. The Chi-square test was utilized to test group differences for such estimations. We also apply the smoothing effects on our confidence interval points to control illogical deviations to mean estimates due to the under-reporting behavior of ENDS/ENNDS users.

In our case, we assume the probability of underreporting ENDS/ENNDS consumption is high in Kenya. For example- users may shy away from genuinely expressing their consumption level –especially following the ban for some ENDS/ENNDS like Shisha and Lyft, which may trigger an increase in illicit consumption of these products. Hence, we opted for a fivepercentage point upward adjustment from the reported prevalence as the most extreme point estimate.

The mainstream literature validates these under-reporting adjustments. For example, scholars in Vietnam employ various levels of under-reporting (10.0%- 30.0%) to conduct a sensitivity analysis for illicit estimates [27]. One study in South Africa assumes 5% under-reporting [28]. We believe that the five-percentage point upward adjustment is relevant for the Kenya settings. Policymakers, users, and other key informants accepted this correction factor.



### **RESULTS**

The results show that ENDS/ENNDS prevalence (Table 1) is higher in the resourced setting than in the less resourced setting (7.9 % vs 3.4 %). The prevalence of ENDS/ENNDS consumption is high in individuals who self-identified as Asian and other races compared to the users who self-identified as African. The cohorts between 26 and 35 years have the highest prevalence of ENDS/ENDS consumption (10.5 % in resourced regions and 5.3% in less-resourced regions), and males have a higher prevalence of ENDS/ENDS consumption than females. Individuals with more than high school qualifications drive the consumption of ENDS/ENNDS products in Kenya in both resourced and less-resourced regions (See Table 1).

Table 2 reports the percentage distribution of ENDS/ENNDS users in Kenya. About 55.1 % of users in the less-resourced regions consume illicit Shisha despite the government's 2017 ban. About 50.5 % of users in the resourced regions consume ENDS/ENNDS products daily. Co-use of illicit cigarettes, Cannabis, and ENDS/ENNDS products is more common in users from less-resourced regions than resourced regions. Most users (70.1 % in resourced regions and 81.1% in less-resourced regions) have not attempted quitting smoking, and addictions are highly reported in both regions (See Table 2).



	Prevalence of ENDS/ENNDS Consumption	Prevalence of ENDS/ ENNDS Consumption	% difference	***denote Chi-Square Test p-values <0.05		
	Resourced regions	Less-resourced regions				
Region	7.9 (7.7 to 8.2)	3.4 ( 3.5 to 3.9)	-56.9	***		
Overall		5.6 (5.4 to 5.9)				
Race						
African	6.1 (5.9 to 6.4)	2.1 (1.8 to 2.2)	-65.6	***		
Asians and other races	9.7 (9.5 to 10.2)	5.4 (18.4 to 25.6)	-44.3	***		
Age						
18-25	5.9 (5.7 to 6.2)	2.2 (2.0 to 2.3)	-62.7	***		
26-35	10.5 (10.3 to 11.1)	5.3 (5.1 to 5.6)	-27.4	***		
> 36	7.3 ( 7.1 to 7.7)	2.8 (3.2 to 2.9)	-73.3	***		
Gender						
Male	11.2 (11.0 to 11.8)	4.6 (4.4 to 4.8)	-58.9	***		
Female	4.6 (4.4 to 4.8)	2.3 (2.1 to 2.4)	-50.1	***		
Education						
<high school<="" td=""><td>3.9 (3.7 to 4.1)</td><td>2.2 (2.0 to 2.3)</td><td>-43.5</td><td>***</td></high>	3.9 (3.7 to 4.1)	2.2 (2.0 to 2.3)	-43.5	***		
High School	8.3 (8.1 to 8.7)	3.2(3.0 to 3.4)	-61.4	***		
>High School	11.5 (11.3 to 12.1)	4.8(4.6 to 5.1)	-58.3	***		
Total Sample	1227	870				
Note: Chi-Square p-value compare changes in ENDS/ENNDS consumption. Resourced vs Less-						

#### Table 1. 2022 Statista Consumer Insights Survey Estimates of ENDS/ENNDS consumption.

resourced regions.



	% Distribution of ENDS/ ENNDS users	%Distribution of ENDS/ ENNDS users	% difference	***denote Chi-Square Test p-values <0.05			
	Resourced regions	Less-resourced regions					
Type of ENDS/ENNDS							
E-Cigarettes	38.0	20.0	-47.3	***			
Nicotine Pouches	31.1	25.2	-19.3	***			
Shisha/Hookah	31.0	55.1	77.4	***			
Consumption intensity							
Daily	50.5	45.5	-10.0	***			
Weekly	34.5	34.4	-1.1				
Monthly	10.4	15.0	44.2	***			
Occasionally	5.1	5.2	2.0				
Co-use	1			1			
Illicit tobacco	28.1	35.1	25.0	***			
Cannabis	34.4	42.0	22.1	***			
Legal cigarettes	38.1	23.2	-39.1	***			
Smoking Cessation				1			
Attempted quitting 3months ago	10.0	11.1	11				
Attempted quitting 6months ago	20.1	8.2	-59.2	***			
Not Attempted	70.1	81.1	15.7	***			
Side Effects				1			
Addiction	60.1	51.4	-16.1	***			
Hypertension	30.1	39.6	35.0	***			
Declining brain function	10.0	9.0	10.0				
Total Sample	123	101					
<b>Note:</b> Chi-Square p-value comparing ENDS/ENNDS percentage distribution. Resourced vs Less- resourced regions.							

#### Table 2. Survey estimating percentage distribution of ENDS/ENNDS users.

### DISCUSSION

This study explored the difference in ENDS/ENNDS consumption in Kenya's resources and less-resourced regions. Our estimations showed a significantly higher prevalence of ENDS/ENNDS consumption in the resourced regions than in the lessresourced regions (Table 1). Male users who self-identified as Asians and other races, between the ages of 26 and 35, with education above high school consume the bulk of ENDS/ENNDS (Table 1). These results are consistent with findings from global studies, which suggested that the young generation of males are the primary consumers of ENDS/ENNDS [29].

The Shisha ban in Kenya might have contributed to the increased illicit Shisha consumption. However, the current estimation does not support the claims that illicit Shisha consumption was 16.5%, as presented in 2023 [20]. This paper only focused on Nairobi and excluded other cities and small towns in Kenya, hence the conservative illicit Shisha estimations. We documented that 30% of users still consume Shisha in resourced regions. We also discovered that illicit consumption is often higher in less-resourced settings than in resourced regions. This evidence is documented in South Africa [30] and explains the 55 % of users of Shisha recorded from less-resourced regions (See Table 2). Therefore, the illicit Shisha estimates generated by the Nairobi study potentially show downward biases.

Kenyan Revenue Authority set the tax on e-cigarette liquids at Khs 70/mg (\$ 0.4 USD/mg) in 2020[23]. Therefore, the tax per 50mg should be Khs 3500 (\$ 22 USD). So far, there are no 50mg e-cigarette liquids in the Kenya market that are trading above Ksh 3000 (\$ 19 USD). Such low prices reflect a thriving illicit network, considering liquid vapes cannot trade below the tax value. Hence, majority users have reported increasing addiction levels and hypertension cases (Table 2) associated with ENDS/ENNDS consumption. In the literature - there is evidence that ENDS/ ENNDS consumption causes higher addiction levels and increases blood pressure and heart rate [31] & [32]. JUUL- a trendy brand in Kenya, is known to release more nicotine in the first puffs compared to other products in the markets [33]. These nicotine levels explain the high addiction levels reported in our study (Table 2).

Therefore, the industry view that ENDS/ ENNDS are less risky (See supplementary file: Item 6- Industry marketing strategy) and support smoking cessation needs to be re-examined [34]. Table 2 shows that the majority of users are not attempting to quit smoking. Therefore, tighter regulations are warranted to control consumption levels. International authors have also raised doubts about the industry narrative that these products support cessation and called for more investigation [35].

The higher illicit consumption of Shisha, Cannabis, and illicit cigarettes, especially among those living in low-resourced settings, is worrying - primarily when focusing on the already existing higher levels of poverty, unemployment, and lower access to health care. Such consumption patterns may worsen addictions-related inequalities and blunt the efforts of tobacco control policies, considering the high affordability of these products. Other authors argue that ENDS/ENNDS is the new gateway to cigarette smoking and other products and needs to be controlled stringently [15][16][17].

Therefore, addressing the criminality associated with the illicit trading of ENDS/ ENNDS, Cannabis, and cigarettes through law enforcement should be prioritized. The government must continue to pursue evidence-based tobacco control policies, including increasing excise taxes, which have been associated with reduced consumption of ENDS/ENNDS [36]. The current ENDS/ENNDS tax regime in Kenya is not practical in reducing consumption (See supplementary file: Item 9-Regulatory frameworks for NGP), considering that most users are well-off, educated individuals (See Table 1) who can afford these products easily. For example, the trading price of 10mg of nicotine pouches is Ksh 350 (\$ USD 2.2) (See supplementary file: Item 12 Economics of NGP). The tax on nicotine pouches is Khs 1595/kg (1.595/g). Therefore, the tax per 10mg is Ksh 2 cents. This figure needs to be higher to make a meaningful contribution to reducing consumption. Even school-going children can afford these products. The government may want to impose a special excise tax on nicotine pouches to avert consumption.

The industry view that higher taxation will worsen illicit consumption is incorrect [37] (See supplementary file: Item 19- Industry attitudes towards NGP). For example, the illicit Shisha trade intensified in 2023 when the excise tax rate was much lower—considering the government's tax break [38]. Therefore, the industry's view that higher taxes drive high illicit proliferation must be rejected. There is still fiscal space for aggressive taxation of ENDS/ENNDS to avert the high addiction levels (See supplementary file: Item 20- Policy maker's attitudes towards NGP).

#### Limitations of the study

A swith any other study, this study has some limitations. For example, our surveys probed potential stigmatizing information such as the frequency of using ENDS/ENNDS and reporting the purchase of illicit products. There is an existing possibility that the data does not reflect the total evolution of ENDS/ENNDS in Kenya. A minority of users with missing data (<2.0%) were perhaps uncomfortable disclosing information. Nevertheless, this aspect will not significantly influence the current results since the majority responded comprehensively to our questions, and we were able to apply appropriate validation techniques from policymakers and critical informants working in the tobacco control space.

Despite these limitations, this study represents the first paper that we are aware of that maps out the consumption patterns of ENDS/ENNDS in Kenya using the population survey approach mixed with interviewing policymakers, users, parents of users, industry representatives, community leaders, and scholars to generate consensus for policy reform and validate the estimated consumption patterns. Such an approach may be relevant to other African countries where it is more challenging to get accurate consumption patterns due to limited capacities within the tobacco control space.

### **Policy implications**

onfronting the growing illicit ENDS/ ENNDS consumption requires a greater political will to increase investment in tax administration, including developing greater capacity for law enforcement and deploying appropriate technology-supported strategy. These measures have been used successfully in Montenegro, where the illicit cigarette market share decreased from 51.0% to 22.0% over three years [39]. The opportunities for success are greater when policymakers are prepared to take bold actions. Kenya can do better by taxing ENDS/ENNDS higher and coordinating intelligent operations to unsettle the entire supply chain of the illicit network (from the factory where the products are manufactured to the final stage of the illegal trade). These measures should be combined with targeting cessation support and awareness campaigns focusing on the vulnerable population groups with high consumption prevalence . The solatium funds collected from the industry can be utilized for these health promotion activities. There is also a need to capacitate the local county governments to monitor the consumption levels of these products in their regions. Policy makers from national government must also bridge the gap between national and country officials in policy formulation to address the growing ENDS/ consumption. Regular meetings ENNDS between the two spheres of government are needed to monitor the evolving consumption trends.

### CONCLUSION

The landscape of ENDS/ENNDS in Kenya is dominated by illicit products. Capacitating tax authority to root out illicit products is critical. Such action, together with targeted cessation support and awareness public health campaigns, will go a long way in strengthening the resilience of tobacco control policies in averting ENDS/ENNDS consumption.

Declaration: None.

**Acknowledgements:** We acknowledge the data collectors who helped with data collection and administering the interviews to the relevant Key informant.

**Author contributions:** CM was responsible for the conception and design of the study. CM was also responsible for analysis, interpretation and drafting of the initial work. CM, AA, LK, WN, RM, IO, JS, AJS, KM, CM, ZM,GG, JT and LA revised and approved the final manuscript.

Funding: National Tax Payers Association.

Conflicts of interest: None.



### REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organisation .Report on the global tobacco epidemic 2019: offer help to quit tobacco use.World Health Organization, Geneva 2019, available at : https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241516204.
- 2. Yoong SL, Hall A, Leonard A et al. Prevalence of electronic nicotine delivery systems and electronic non-nicotine delivery systems in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Public Health 2021, 6,e661–73.
- 3. Jonas A. Impact of vaping on respiratory health. BMJ 2022, 378, doi: https://doi. org/10.1136/bmj-2021-065997.
- Lavacchi D, Roviello G, Rodriquenz MG. Electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS): not still ready to put on END. J Thorac Dis. 2020 Jul,12(7),3857-3865. doi: 10.21037/ jtd.2019.12.124.
- Jankowski M, Krzystanek M, Zejda JE, Majek P, Lubanski J, Lawson JA, Brozek G. E-Cigarettes are More Addictive than Traditional Cigarettes-A Study in Highly Educated Young People. Int J Environ Res Public Health.2019 Jun 27,16(13),2279. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16132279.
- 6. Wills TA, Gibbons FX, Sargent JD, Schweitzer RJ. How is the effect of adolescent e-cigarette use on smoking onset mediated: A longitudinal analysis. Psychol Addict Behav.2016,30(8),876-886. doi: 10.1037/adb0000213.
- Wold L, et al. American Heart Association Council on Basic Cardiovascular Sciences; Council on Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology; Council on Hypertension; and Stroke Council. Cardiopulmonary Consequences of Vaping in Adolescents: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circ Res 2022 Jul 22,131(3),e70-e82. doi: 10.1161/RES.000000000000544.
- Yoong SL, Hall A, Leonard A, McCrabb S, Wiggers J, Tursan d'Espaignet E, Stockings E, Gouda H, Fayokun R, Commar A, Prasad VM, Paul C, Oldmeadow C, Chai LK, Thompson B, Wolfenden L. Prevalence of electronic nicotine delivery systems and electronic non-nicotine delivery systems in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Public Health. 2021 Sep,6(9),e661-e673. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(21)00106-7.
- 9. Sala M, Gotti C. Electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS): A convenient means of smoking? Pharmacol Res. 2023 Sep,195,106885. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2023.106885.
- Erku DA, Kisely S, Morphett K, Steadman KJ, Gartner CE. Framing and scientific uncertainty in nicotine vaping product regulation: An examination of competing narratives among health and medical organisations in the UK, Australia and New Zealand. Int J Drug Policy 2020 Apr,78,102699. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102699.
- Campus B, Fafard P, St Pierre J, Hoffman SJ. Comparing the regulation and incentivization of e-cigarettes across 97 countries. Soc Sci Med 2021 Dec, 291,114187. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114187.

- 12. World Health Organisation . Regulation of e-cigarettes. WHO publication 2022. Available at : https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/librariesprovider2/euro-health-topics/ tobacco/10-regulation-e-cigarettes-2022-engcb26ac6d-3c58-4f60-8d6a-07cc7cca7489. pdf?sfvrsn=418d6a6c\_1&download=true.
- 13. Kenkel DS. Healthy innovation: Vaping, smoking, and public policy. J Policy Anal Manage 2016 Spring, 35(2), 473-9. doi: 10.1002/pam.21895. PMID: 26985459.
- Banks E, Yazidjoglou A, Brown S, Nguyen M, Martin M, Beckwith K, Daluwatta A, Campbell S, Joshy G. Electronic cigarettes and health outcomes: umbrella and systematic review of the global evidence. Med J Aust 2023 Apr 3,218(6),267-275. doi: 10.5694/mja2.51890.
- 15. Chapman S, Bareham D, Maziak W. The Gateway Effect of E-cigarettes: Reflections on Main Criticisms. Nicotine Tob Res 2019 Apr 17, 21(5), 695-698. doi: 10.1093/ntr/nty067.
- 16. Keogh A. Nicotine pouches. Br Dent J 2021; 230: 61–62 . Available at : https://doi. org/10.1038/s41415-021-2622-y.
- 17. Kaufman N, Mahoney M. E-Cigarettes: Policy Options and Legal Issues Amidst Uncertainty. Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics 2015,43(S1),23-26. doi:10.1111/jlme.12209.
- Balfour D, Benowitz N, Colby SM, Hatsukami DK, Lando HA, Leischow SJ, Lerman C, Mermelstein RJ, Niaura R, Perkins KA, Pomerleau OF, Rigotti NA, Swan GE, Warner KE, West R. Balancing Consideration of the Risks and Benefits of E-Cigarettes. Am J Public Health 2021 Sep1,11(9),1661-1672. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2021.306416.
- 19. Nian Q, Welding K, Dai Z. An overview of national-level excise taxes on e-cigarettes across the world. Tob Induc Dis 2023 Oct 10,21,129. doi: 10.18332/tid/171353.
- 20. Fukuda S, Nyambura S, Gitali J, et al.Monitoring compliance with Kenya's shisha ban in select public hospitality venues in Nairobi.Tobacco Control 2023;32:385-387.
- 21. Kadhum M, Sweidan A, Jaffery AE, Al-Saadi A, Madden B. A review of the health effects of smoking shisha. Clin Med (Lond) 2015 Jun,15(3),263-6. doi: 10.7861/clinmedicine.15-3-263.
- 22. Burki TK. Petition to ban nicotine pouches in Kenya. Lancet Oncol 2021 Jun, 22(6), 756. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(21)00267-9.
- 23. Tobacco reporter .Kenya Plans to Raise Taxes on Vaping. Available at :https://tobaccoreporter. com/2022/04/29/kenya-plans-to-raise-taxes-on-vaping-other-nicotine-products/.
- 24. Statista Consumer Insights Survey. Available at : https://www.statista.com/outlook/cmo/ tobacco-products/e-cigarettes/kenya.
- 25. Kenya National Bureau of Statistics. Inequality trends and diagnostics in Kenya 2020. Available at : https://economics.uonbi.ac.ke/research-projects/inequality-trends-anddiagnostics-kenya.
- 26. Hirpa S, Ralston R, Deressa W, Collin J. They have a right to participate as a stakeholder': Article 5.3 implementation and government interactions with the tobacco industry in Ethiopia. Tob Control 2022 Jun,31(Suppl 1), s5-s11. doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2021-056885. Epub 2022 Jan 31.
- 27. Nguyen MT, Denniston R, Nguyen HTT, Hoang TA, Ross H, So AD. The Empirical Analysis of Cigarette Tax Avoidance and Illicit Trade in Vietnam 1998-2010. PLoS ONE 2014; 9(1): e87272. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087272.
- Blecher E . A mountain or a molehill: is the illicit trade in cigarettes undermining tobacco control policy in South Africa? Trends Organ Crime 2010;13:299–315.doi:10.1007/s12117-010-9092-y.

- 29. Pan L, Morton J, Mbulo L, Dean A, Ahluwalia IB. Electronic cigarette use among adults in 14 countries: A cross-sectional study. EClinicalMedicine 2022 Apr 21,47,101401. doi: 10.1016/j. eclinm.2022.101401.
- 30. Van der Zee K, Vellios N, Van Walbeek C, et al. The illicit cigarette market in six South African townships. Tobacco Control 2020, 29, s267-s274.
- Chami HA, et al. Central and Peripheral Hemodynamics in Young Adults Who Use Water Pipes and the Acute Effects of Water-Pipe Use. Chest 2023 Dec, 164(6), 1481-1491. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2023.07.070.
- 32. Talih S, Hanna E, Salman R, Salam S, El-Hage R, Karaoghlanian N, Talih F, Baldassari S, Saliba N, Elbejjani M, Eissenberg T, El-Hellani A, Shihadeh A. Influence of nicotine form and nicotine flux on puffing behavior and mouth-level exposure to nicotine from electronic nicotine delivery systems. Drug Alcohol Depend 2024 Jan 1, 254,111052. doi: 10.1016/j. drugalcdep.2023.111052.
- 33. Salman R, Talih S, Karam E, et al.JUUL releases more nicotine in the first puffs.Tobacco Control 2023,32,267-268.
- Sealock T. Smoking Cessation. [Updated 2023 Jan 23]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 Jan-. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK482442/.
- 35. Amaral A,Lwaleed B,Andrade A. Electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS): a strategy for smoking cessation or a new risk factor for oral health?. Evid Based Dent 24, 188–189 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41432-023-00929-w.
- 36. Abouk R, Courtemanche C, Dave D, Feng B, Friedman AS, Maclean JC, Pesko MF, Sabia JJ, Safford S. Intended and unintended effects of e-cigarette taxes on youth tobacco use. J Health Econ 2023 Jan,87,102720. doi: 10.1016/j.jhealeco.2022.102720.
- 37. Nguyen A, Nguyen HT. Tobacco excise tax increase and illicit cigarette consumption: evidence from Vietnam. Tob Control. 2020 Oct,29(Suppl 4),s275-s280. doi: 10.1136/ tobaccocontrol-2019-055301.
- 38. Mostert C. Kenya's tobacco tax break may aid the promotion of smoking culture. Bussines Daily Africa 26, 07, 2023. Available at : https://www.businessdailyafrica.com/bd/opinion-analysis/columnists/kenya-s-tobacco-tax-break-m-promotion-of-smoking-culture--4315688.
- 39. Tobacconomics. Case studies in illicit tobacco trade: Montenegro. Tobacconomics Fact Sheet. Chicago, IL: Tobacconomics, Health Policy Center, Institute for Health Research and Policy, University of Illinois Chicago. 2023.www.tobacconomics.org.

### **APPENDIX**

#### Survey 1

2022 Statista Consumer Insights Survey

- 1. Name of the region/town:
- 2. Age of participant in years:
- 3. Gender of participant: 1 = Female, 2 = Male
- 4. Residence of the participant: 1 = Rural, 2 = Urban
- 5. Race: 1 = Black, 2 = Asian and other
- **6. Education level:** 1 = less than high school, 2 = Completed high school, 3= Having tertiary qualification
- 7. Consume ENDS/ENNDS : 1=Yes, 2= No

#### Survey 2

Consumption Survey Questionnaire

- 1. Name of the region/town:
- 2. Age of participant in years:
- 3. Gender of participant: 1 = Female, 2 = Male
- 4. Residence of the participant: 1 = Rural, 2 = Urban
- 5. Race: 1 = Black, 2 = Asian and other
- **6. Education level:** 1 = less than high school, 2 = Completed high school, 3= Having tertiary qualification
- 7. Type of new generation product consumed: 1= E-cigarettes , 2=Shisha, 3=Nicotine Pouche, 4=Refuse to tell.
- 8. Preferred brand: 1=Dunhill Switch Flavours, 2=Electricity cigarettes, 3=Gold Puff, 4=SoloX, 5=Elfbar, 6=Iqos, 7=Juul, 8=Ketepa tea, 9=Khaleej shisha flavour, 10=KK energy, 11=Dry weed vaporizers, 12=Nicorette, 13=Smoke and Twisp, 14=Tugboat, 15=Vbar, 16=eGo-T Vape Pen, 17=Lyft, 18=Velo
- Consumption intensity of ENDS/ENNDS products: 1 = Daily, 2 = Weekly, 3= Monthly, 4= Occasionally
- **10. Co-use:** 1 = Cheap illicit cigarrates , 2 = Cannabis , 3= Legal cigarrates, 4= None.
- **11. Side effects:** 1 = Addiction , 2 = Hypertension, 3 = Declining brain function, 4= Other 5= None.
- **12. Smoking Cessation:** 1 = Attempted quitting 3 months ago, 2 = Attempted quitting 6 months ago , 3= Not attempted

21

#### Survey 3

Interview questions administered to the Key informants

- 1. Position of the Key informant :
- 2. What is the consumption trend of ENDS/ENNDS in the past 5 years :
- 3. What are the consumption hotspots of ENDS/ENNDS in Kenya :
- 4. Supply chain of ENDS/ENNDS in Kenya:
- 5. Cohorts consuming ENDS/ENNDS:
- 6. Industry marketing strategy:
- 7. Myth about ENDS/ENNDS discovered in the community:
- 8. Drivers of ENDS/ENNDS consumption:
- 9. What are existing regulatory framework for ENDS/ENNDS:
- 10. Can you elaborate on existing programs to avert ENDS/ENNDS consumption:
- 11. Side effects associated with ENDS/ENNDS consumption:
- 12. Average price for ENDS/ENNDS products:
- 13. Tax share derived from the trading price:
- 14. Prices for tobacco products which are co-used with ENDS/ENNDS:
- 15. Consumption intensity of ENDS/ENNDS:
- 16. Consumption intensity for tobacco products which are co-used with ENDS/ ENNDS:
- 17. Origin of ENDS/ENNDS products consumed in Kenya:
- 18. Any existing bans from producing regions:
- 20. Minimum spending on ENDS/ENNDS / month for beginners:
- 21. Views from the industry regarding ENDS/ENNDS regulations:
- 22. Views from policy makers regarding ENDS/ENNDS regulation:
- 23. Views from users regarding ENDS/ENNDS regulation:
- 24. Views from parents of users regarding ENDS/ENNDS regulation:
- 30. Views from scholars regarding ENDS/ENNDS regulation:
- **31. Policy recommendation**





14 Riverside Dr, Daphton Court, Hse No. A6 P.O. Box 4037-00506 Nairobi, Kenya Phone: +254-701-946-557 E-mail: admin@nta.or.ke